IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE

DEC 19 1990

CLERK, SOPREME COURT

By

Deputy Clerk

MARSHALL LEE GORE,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 75,955

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

W. C. McLAIN #201170 ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE FOURTH FLOOR NORTH 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Procedural Progress of the Case.

A Columbia county grand jury indicted Marshall Lee Gore for first degree murder, kidnapping and robbery in the connection with the death of Susan Marie Roark. (R 2758-2759) Gore pleaded not guilty on June 30, 1989, and proceeded to a jury trial (R 2764). The jury found Gore guilty as charged on March 14, 1990, and after hearing additional evidence during the penalty phase of the trial, the jury recommended a death sentence for the murder. (R 3043, 3063-3064)

Circuit Judge Vernon Douglas, adjudged Gore guilty on April 3, 1990 and sentenced him to death for the murder, life for the kidnapping, and fifteen years for the robbery. (R 3070-3083) In support of the death sentence, the court found four aggravating circumstances: (1) Gore was previously convicted for attempted murder, kidnapping, sexual battery, and armed burglary; (2) the homicide occurred during a kidnapping; (3) the homicide was committed for financial gain; and (4) the homicide was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner. (R 3072-3074) In mitigation, the court acknowledged as non-statutory mitigating circumstances Gore's mental and physical abuse as a child at the hands of his father, and the testimony of the psychiatrist that Gore suffered from an anti-social personality disorder as a result of his abusive childhood environment. (R 3076)

Gore filed a motion for new trial on April 11, 1990, which the court denied on the following day. (R 3085-3087, 3127)

He timely filed his notice of appeal to this court on April 26, 1990. (R 3131)

Facts - The Prosecution's Case

Marshall Gore met Nathan Caywood in Cleveland, Tennessee. (R 1172-1174) Caywood knew Gore by the name Tony. (R 1172) The two men decided to travel to Florida together, and Caywood suggested that Gore meet him at the Rocky Top Market in Cleveland at 11:30 p.m. (R 1176-1179) Caywood asked Jamie Stafford to show Gore the location of the market. (R 1178) Stafford accompanied Gore to the Rocky Top Market between 10:00 and 10:30 p.m. (R 1253-1254). Rather than waiting for Caywood, Gore began a conversation with a young woman who drove to the market in a black Mustang automobile. (R 1257-1259) Stafford recognized the woman as Susan Roark (R 1258, 1263-1264). Stafford said that Gore told him he was leaving. Gore then entered Susan Roark's car and they drove away. (R 1259-1260)

Gore accompanied Roark to a party at the home of a friend of Roark's, Michelle Trammell's. (R 1304-1306) Trammell said that Roark had planned to spend the night at her home after the party (R 1304). Roark and Gore arrived at Trammell's home around 10:00 on the night of January 30, 1988 (R 1304). Roark introduced Gore simply by the name Tony (R 1308). Others present at the party included Rick Hammond, Trammell's boyfriend (R 1362). Brian Swafford and Randall Scott Clark were

also present (R 1381, 1396-1397). All those present, besides Gore, were long-time friends of Roark's. Each of those present at the party testified that they observed no unusual behavior on the part of Gore (R 1319, 1372-1373, 1393, 1412). Between 11:30 and 12:00, Roark left to drive Gore home. She intended to return to Trammell's home to spend the night (R 1304). Roark had also asked Trammell to accompany her when taking Gore home (R 1311), however, Trammell fell asleep and did not go with Roark. (R 1314) Roark did not ask any of her other friends who were present to accompany her. (R 1317-1318, 1368-1369, 1393, 1413-1414) She freely left with Gore alone. (R 1393, 1414)

Susan Roark never returned to her friend's home. (R 1316)
Trammell assumed that Roark must have gone home rather than
coming back to spend the night. (R 1321). Later the following
day, however, Susan's grandmother called Trammell inquiring
about Roark. (R 1321-1322) Roark's grandmother had expected
her home by 7:00 am Sunday morning (R 1334). Her grandmother
reported her missing (R 1334). Efforts were made to find her
without success (R 1323).

On April 2, 1988, the skeletonized remains of Roark's body were discovered in Columbia county. (R 949, 957, 965, 972) Four members of the Sheriff's auxiliary were conducting a search on horseback for a missing man. (R 948, 956, 964, 970) The body was in a wooded area which had been used for unauthorized dumping of household garbage and refuse. (R 949, 957) The body was laying near some old tires. (R 977) Several items of evidence

were found near the body. Two earrings were located underneath the victims head. (R 978-979) A pink and blue shirt was found a short distance from the body as well as a pair of woman's underwear. (R 978-979, 988-989, 1065-1066) A hair piece was also found (R 978) and, in the victim's hands, a single strand of hair was present. (R 986) A shoe string was tied around the victim's left wrist. (R 1005-1006, 1040). The pair of woman's underwear appeared to have been cut, and a panty shield was found in two pieces. (R 1040, 1067) Some beer bottles, white socks and a Marlboro cigarette pack were also collected. (R 1072-1075) There were no fingerprints found at the scene. (R 1046). Serology testing on the shirt indicated the presence of blood. (R 1082) However, the preliminary tests were not conclusive and the test sometimes has false positive readings for items such as bleach and rust (R 1085-1091). There was also insufficient quantities to determine if it was human blood or animal blood (R 1091-1092).

A skeletal remains were examined by a pathologist, Dr. Bonifacio Floro and by forensic anthropologist, Dr. William Maples. (R 1093, 1136) The remains had a small amount of tissue attached to the bone and a portion of the skin. All the internal organs were decomposed. (R 1140) The leathery skin still covered the chest, abdomen, and the front left side of the victim. A small oval hole, two to three inches in diameter, was in the skin in the region of the right breast. (R 1141) A string was attached around the left wrist. There was a mark on the left wrist indicating that at one time the string

was rather tight. (R 1141) The skin was not broken in that area, however, a bruise mark was apparent. (R 1141) Floro found no evidence of broken bones, or evidence of other wounds. (R 1141) He concluded the cause of death was homicide. (R 1142-1143). This conclusion was based on the fact that a young woman was found deceased in a rural area, without clothes, and had no history of chronic or acute illnesses. (R 1142-1144) Floro concluded the manner could have been strangulation, a slashing injury to the neck, or a stabbing which would have left no marks. (R 1145) The neck area was completely missing. (R 1146) Floro stated that he expected the neck and the neck to be intact. (R 1147) His conclusion was that there must have been some injury to the neck which provided a favorable environment for insects to begin the deterioration process. (R 1146) He believe some type of open wound occurred in the neck area. (R 1146) Floro stated that the absence of cartilages and small bones in the neck area could have been attributed to animal activity. (R 1154) He could also not rule out the possibility that death occurred as a result of an drug overdose, since there was insufficient tissues for toxicology studies. (R 1157-1159) Floro removed the skull from the remains for the purposes of preparing a dental chart. (R 1147, 1160) He used a scalpel and said that it is possible that he accidentally made a nick in the bone at the base of the skull which the anthropologist later discovered. (R 1160) Floro concluded that the body was placed in its location either at the time of death, or within two hours of death (R 1150). Based on the degree of

decomposition, he concluded that death occurred six to seven weeks prior to the discovery of the body. (R 1152-1154) Floro disagreed with Maples' conclusion that death could have occurred only two weeks prior to the body. (R 1152-1153) The remains were identified as Susan Roark's based on an examination of her dental charts. (R 1148- 1149, 1131-1135)

Maples testified about three findings on the remains. (R 1093-1098). He said the circular hole in the skin in the area of the right breast could have been caused by the breast being cut away or maggots devouring the tissue in that area. (R 1099) He said of the hundreds of cases he had examined, only two have had the breast area missing. (R 1100) According to Maples there may have been an injury to the breast area that produced an attractive environment for maggot activity to devour the tissue. (R 1099, 1124) Based on the edges of the skin, he felt that the greater probability was that maggots had removed the breast. (R 1124-1126) Maples also found a nick in the bone at the based of the skull. (R 1101-1110) He believe the nick was produced by a knife. (R 1101) Moreover, the wound was produced by stabbing action. (R 1103) The orientation of the wound indicated that the blade had come from the rear of the person, since a knife went under the back of the skull above the first vertebrae. (R 1106) This could have severed the spinal column causing immediate death. (R 1106) Based on brownish debris in the wound to the bone, Maples concluded that the wound occurred somewhere around the time of death. (R 1107-1108) However, Maples said the wound to the bone could have occurred when the

medical examiner used a scalpel to remove the skull from the spinal column. (R 1108) The medical examiner also washed the brain case, which could have left brown staining in the wound. (R 1109-1110) Maples concluded that the body was placed at the scene before rigor mortis began, which would have been within twelve hours of death (R 1113-1114). Because of the decomposition and the mummification of the skin, Maples concluded the body had probably been at the scene about two to six months prior to discovery. (R 1112, 1115-1117) The body could have been present at the scene for as little as two weeks, or for as much as six months. (R 1115-1117)

In January, 1988, Gore visited a former girl friend, Susan Brown, in Tampa. (R 1417-1421) He drove a black Mustang and told Brown that his mother had given him the car. (R 1422) Gore needed money for a hotel and asked Brown to assist him in pawning some jewelry, since he did not have a driver's license. (R 1425-1426) Gore and Brown went to a pawn shop where Gore offered three or four rings. (R 1427) The pawn shop owner refused one ring, a class ring with the initials S.M.R. (R 1427) Gore said that the ring had belonged to a former girl friend. (R 1428) Brown then accompanied Gore to a hotel where he rented a room. (R 1429) The following day, Gore asked Brown to assist him in pawning more jewelry. (R 1430) This time a necklace, which Gore said had belonged to a former girlfriend. (R 1430-1432) They pawned the necklace for \$70. (R 1432). They continued to another pawn shop where Gore pawned additional jewelry, two or three rings. (R 1433-1435) Brown was

unable to identify the rings which had been obtained from the pawn shops, as the rings Gore pawned. (R 1451) Two rings and transaction records were obtained from the Pawn & Gun Exchange in Tampa. (R 1478-1490) A flat herringbone chain necklace and transaction records were obtained from another pawn shop up in Tampa, the A & A pawn shop. (R 1494-1514) The owner of the shop was able to identify the herringbone chain because of its unusual length. (R 1501) A ring was also obtained from the Royal Golden Gun pawn shop in Tampa. (R 1504-1506)

Susan Brown introduced Gore to Rosa Lastinger in Miami. (R 1658) Lastinger worked for a car dealership selling cars. (R 1659) In February, 1988, Gore called Lastinger to talk to her about trading a black Mustang. (R 1660) He was unable to make the trade, however, because he not have the registration or title to the car. (R 1660) Gore told Lastinger that his father had the title, and since they were on bad terms, he could not obtain it. (R 1660-1661) Gore using the name Tony at the time, but he filled out paper work in the name of Marshall Anthony Gore. (R 1659-1663). He made arrangements to stay with Lastinger for a few days at her home but stayed six to eight weeks. (R 1663) During this time, he drove the black Mustang. (R 1663-1664). Lastinger described one incident when she was riding with Gore in the automobile and he was stopped for speeding. (R 1665-1666) She said when he saw a police car coming he suddenly got a paranoid reaction and started driving over a 100 miles-per-hour. (R 1665) When she told him to slow down, Gore said, "You don't understand, they're going to get

me, going to get me." (R 1666). After he was stopped, Gore handed Lastinger his pocket knife, saying he was about to be arrested. (R 1666-1667) The officer merely gave him a ticket. (R 1667) Gore's response was that Karen, his ex-wife, had apparently not reported the Mustang stolen. (R 1667) Later, on February 14 1988, Gore was involved in an automobile accident with the black Mustang and called Lastinger to pick him up. (R 1668-1669, 1729-1733). The police seized the Mustang after Gore left the scene (R 1577-1589). The automobile was the same one that Gore had had glass repaired in a few days earlier. (R 1607-1611) The car was titled in the name Harold Roark (R 1541).

Crime scene investigators processed the Mustang and obtained several items of evidence. A yellow chain with a teddybear charm was hanging on the rear view mirror. (R 1524) Two pairs of earrings were attached to driver's sunviser. (R 1526) A brown pillow was in the car. (R 1528) Also, a pair of brown shorts with suspected blood stains were recovered. (R 1533) The driver's side seat-belt also had a red stain which was suspected blood. (R 1535) A psychology textbook with the name Susan Roark written inside was in the automobile. (R 1537) Also, a florist card addressed to Susan. (R 1539) The jewelry and pillows found in the car were later identified as being similar to items Susan Roark owned. (R 1306-1307) The traffic ticket bearing the name of Marshall L. Gore was also found inside the car. (R 1541) The pair of shorts tested positive on a presumptive test for the presence of blood, but no other

typing could be performed. (R 1603-1604) The seat-belt buckle also tested positive for the presence of blood. (R 1604-1605) The presumptive tests were not conclusive. (R 1606) Latent fingerprints were obtained from the inside driver's window of the automobile. (R 1545-1546) One proved to match Gore's right index-finger. (R 1629)

Marisol Coto and her daughter, Jessie Casanova, testified about some music tapes Gore gave to Jessie which had come from the black Mustang (R 1692-1695, 1701-1704). Gore also gave a set of the Mustang keys to Jessie because she collected and played with keys. (R 1705) He also asked Jessie to burn the tapes, but she did not. (R 1707-1715) The tapes and the keys were turned over to FBI agents. (R 1716-1728) Agent Keating verified that the keys matched the black Mustang. (R 1725-1728)

While in Miami in February of 1988, Gore met Lisa Ingram at a party, at a lake (R 2024-2025). Gore, his friend David, and Ingram left the party to take David home, since he was ill. (R 2026-2027) Ingram testified that Gore drove a dark colored compact car. (R 2027) After leaving David, Ingram noticed a purse in Gore's automobile. (R 2028-2029) Over defense objections, Ingram was allowed to testify that Gore allegedly said that the purse belonged to a girl that he had killed last night. (R 2029) The court allowed the statement in as an admission against interest over relevancy objections. (R 2029, 2018-2024) Ingram testified that she heard this statement on the night of February 19th or the morning of February 20th. (R 2030) Therefore, his reference to "last night" would have been

to February 18th or 19th. (R 2030) On redirect, the state was allowed to illicit, over objection, that Ingram was upset when she was interviewed by the police. (R 2035)

The trial court allowed the state to introduce evidence of a collateral crime in an effort to prove Gore was the perpetrator. (R 1811-1862, 2053) Tina Corolis testified about a sexual assault Gore allegedly committed upon her in March of 1988, in Hollywood, Florida. (R 2053-2118) Corolis said she met Gore in September or October of 1987, and they dated about five times between October and March of 1988. (R 2054) On March 14, 1988, Gore telephoned her asking her for a ride since his car was broken down. (R 2054) She picked him up, and they drove around attempting to find his automobile. (R 2055) At one point, he asked her to pull over so he could use the rest room. (R 2055) He returned to the car with a knife and took over the driving of the car. (R 2055) He drove them to an area which was somewhat wooded and where garbage had been dumped. (R 2056) Gore threatened to cut the seat-belts from her car and tie her up, but did not do so. (R 2056-2057) Corolis also had her son in the automobile. (R 2057) Gore placed the knife at her stomach and told her to take her clothes off, and then sexually assaulted her. (R 2057) After the assault, she tried to convince him to take her and her son home. (R 2058) Instead, he dragged her out of the car, punched her face against a rock, and strangled her. (R 2058) She lost consciousness. (R 2058) she regained consciousness, Gore, her car and her son were gone. (R 2058-2059) In addition to the blow to her head, she

suffered stab wounds across her neck, arms, legs, and buttocks.

(R 2059) Her jewelry was also taken. (R 2060) She later recovered her red Toyota automobile and her jewelry. (R 2060-2062)

The state presented two statements Gore allegedly made after his arrest. FBI agents, L. D. McGuinty and Larry Faust, arrested Gore in Tennessee. (R 2170-2206) They did not question him at that time, but Gore allegedly said that the two agents would be famous for making the arrest. (R 2076, 2205) Later, in Florida, a Miami detective interviewed Gore. (R 2210-2220) When asked if he had ever driven a 1986 black Mustang with a Tennessee license tag, Gore said he did not recall having ever driven such a car. (R 2217) Gore also denied knowing anyone by the name of Susan Roark. (R 2217) When asked if he knew Tina Corolis, Gore denied knowing her. (R 2218) Gore also denied ever having driven the 1987 red Toyota Corrolla. (R 2219)

Facts - The Defense's Case

The defense presented four witnesses who testified about the collection of various hair samples from the scene and comparison standards from Gore and the victim. (R 2289-2318) A pair of underwear and a pair of socks found at the scene had Negro hairs present; no Caucasian hairs were found. (R 2303-2304) Hairs from a shirt found at the scene were Caucasian hairs, but none were similar to Gore's. (R 2306-2307) The only other hair found at the scene was from the victim's hand

and they did not match Gore's hair. No hairs matching Gore's were present on any of the items recovered from the scene. (R 2307-2309)

Gore's sister, Michelle Gore, testified about some jewelry she and her sister owned which was missing. She had several necklaces, rings, and gold chains which had disappeared over the years. (R 2352-2353) She looked at exhibit #33, a herring-bone chain necklace, and said that it could have been hers because she had one identical to it. (R 2353-2354) She also identified exhibit #32, a diamond ring, as like the one she lost. (R 2355) She looked at another ring, exhibit #34, and identified it as similar to the ring her sister owned. (R 2356-2357)

Stephanie Refner testimony was presented by a video-taped deposition. (R 2358, 3005-3036) Refner knew Susan Roark, and she testified that the last she saw Roark was on 25th Street as Susan was driving her automobile. (R 3006-3012) Roark turned into a Texaco gasoline station. (R 3012) This was on a Saturday night, a week after January 31st. (R 3015-3017) On February 14th, Refner read the newspaper article reporting that Roark was missing. (R 3013-3014) She was in shock because she knew she had seen Roark after January 31st, which was the date the article reported Roark missing. (R 3014-3015) Refner called detective Chastain to report that she had seen Roark. (R 3016-3017) She reported to Dewey Chastain, on February 15, 1988, that she had seen Roark in the black Mustang on 25th Street on February 6th. (R 3034-3036, 2362-2366)

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