IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED
MAR 28 1991
CLERK, SHPREME COURT
By Deputy Clerk

MARSHALL LEE GORE,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 75,955

٩.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR COLUMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROLYN M. SNURKOWSKI ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 158541

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. The proper analysis to be used in assessing whether the State violated Gore's constitutional rights is Michigan v. Mosley. Gore never exercised his "right to counsel" to either the federal or state authorities. The ultimate question however, whether his (exculpatory) "statements" to Officer Simmons were admitted contrary to his constitutional rights must be answered in the negative. His "rights" were scrupulously honored once he indicated he no longer desired to talk to the federal agents. His later statements were the product of a voluntary waiver following additional Miranda warnings by the state authorities. Should this court disagree, beyond per adventure, the admission of "statements" were harmless error. Arizona v. Fulminante, Case No. 89-839 (Decided March 26, 1991).

II. The collateral crime evidence admitted was relevant and never became a feature in the presentation of the State's case. Gore's reliance on **Drake v. State**, 400 So.2d 1217 (Fla. 1981), is misplaced.

prejudiced III. Gore was neither nor was his constitutional rights violated by the court denial of а continuance of trial until such time as his witness Stephanie Refner gave birth. Her testimony was preserved by video-taped Gore was not deprived of his constitutional rights deposition. to be present at his deposition even though it ultimately was admitted at trial.

IV. The State proved beyond a reasonable doubt all elements of kidnapping sub judice. This was not a circumstance

where Susan Roark's movement from Cleveland, Tennessee to Lake City, Florida, can, by any stretch of the imagination, constitute movement "only" incidental to the homicide and theft.

V. The trial court did not abuse its discretion is permitting the victim's stepmother to be excused from the witness sequestration rule. Mrs. Roark's testimony was incidental at best and in no way resulted in prejudice to Gore.

VI. The State did not impermissibly question Gore's expert regarding whether Gore could appreciate right from wrong. Gore brought the issue into question and the State has wide latitude to cross examine the witness.

VII. The three aggravating circumstances challenged by Gore were all proven beyond a reasonable doubt. As such the trial court relied on them in support of the death sentence imposed.

- 14 -

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING GORE'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS STATEMENTS SINCE THE STATEMENTS WERE NOT OBTAINED IN VIOLATION OF GORE'S RIGHT TO COUNSEL

Gore first argues that the trial court erred in not granting his motion to suppress statements he made to law enforcement officers after his arrest. Citing Edwards v. Arizona, 451 U.S. 477, 101 S.Ct. 1880, 68 L.Ed.2d 378 (1981), and Minnick v. Mississippi, 498 U.S. ____, 111 S.Ct. ____, 112 L.Ed.2d 489 (1990), he urges:

> . . . Since Gore had asserted his right to deal with the police only through counsel, was not free to conduct the Simmons interview, even though Gore may have said he did not wish to have a lawyer present early in the interview. The fact that Gore said, after the interview had commenced, that he decided not to follow his attorney's advice, did not permit Simmons to proceed. In Minnick, the Supreme Court clarified and explained that the bright-line rule of Edwards means that after the assertion of the right initiation of counsel, to have no interrogation may occur without a lawyer's presence. actual The fact that Gore consulted with counsel prior to the interview is insufficient. There could be no valid waiver without the presence of counsel at the time of any interview; prior consultation with a lawyer was insufficient. Minnick.

(Appellant Brief's, at 30-31).

The record reflects two misstatements with regard to Gore's conclusion: (1) Gore never "asserted his right to deal with the police only through counsel", and (2) the facts in Minnick v. Mississippi are distinguishable from the facts sub judice.

The record reflects that at the suppression hearing the following was brought out: that FBI Agent L.B. McGuinty arrested Gore at his cousin's trailer and immediately thereafter, advised Gore of his Miranda rights. (TR 1865-1866). Gore indicated he understood his rights and signed the rights form. He indicated he wanted to talk without an attorney present and did in fact talk to the FBI agents about his federal parole violation. (TR When asked about how he arrived in Paducah, 1868, 1884). Kentucky, Gore told the FBI Agents McGuinty and Faust that he didn't want to talk anymore. (TR 1869, 1872, 1880, 1886-1887). At that point both Agent McGuinty and Agent Faust terminated any conversation with Gore. (TR 1869, 1880, 1886-1887). Both agents testified that at no time did Gore request an attorney (TR 1869, 1881), and no other questions were asked of Gore. The agents transported Gore to a federal facility in Hopkinsville, Kentucky, and at some point, a federal public defender represented Gore in the federal proceedings and advised Gore not to cooperate with law enforcement on any other charges. (TR 1898). Gore was released from the federal authorities and transferred to the custody of the Metro Dade County Police Department.

On March 24, 1988, Detective David Simmons arrested Gore on state charges in relation to the attempted first degree murder and assault on Tina Marie Corolis. (TR 1890-1891). Gore made a statement in the patrol car that he felt quite "important" based on all the attention he had received from the FBI; the fact that he had flown in a private jet and that he liked the conditions in the federal prison where he stayed for a couple of days. (TR

- 16 -

At approximately 3:15 p.m., on March 24, 1988, Gore 1892). arrived with Detective Simmons at the police department. (TR 1892). He was immediately advised of his rights and inquiry was made with regard to his education and sobriety. Questions were also asked with regard to his reading ability and ability to He was asked whether he was on drugs and Detective write. Simmons observed that Gore seemed calm, sober, coherent and cooperative. (TR 1893-1895). Gore declined to put his initials on the rights form and told Detective Simmons that he had been advised by the federal public defender with whom he spoke not to cooperate with law enforcement. He said he did not want to take their advise and wished to speak because he had done nothing wrong and didn't need the presence of an attorney. (TR 1898). Simmons asked Gore if he wished to speak with a local public defender but Gore said he had no desire to talk with counsel. (TR 1899). Gore told Detective Simmons about the initial arrest in Paducah, Kentucky, on March 17, 1988, which had to do with his federal probation violation and that at that point he, Gore, had been advised of his constitutional rights. Gore admitted that he executed a written waiver and said that he ended the interview so he could be transported back to the jail and contact his father so that he could tell him that he had been arrested. (TR 1900). Gore talked about his family, his background, his criminal record and the jobs he had held. (TR 1901). Detective Simmons testified that they took a break at 4:45 p.m. and reconvened at At that point they talked about the halfway house 5:10 p.m. where Gore had been incarcerated and took a second break at 6:15

- 17 -

p.m. (TR 1901-1902). At 6:45 p.m., they recommenced discussions and Gore talked about his numerous aliases and his criminal He admitted that "Tony" was one of his aliases and record. (TR 1903). At 7:30 p.m., discussed his involvement in drugs. they took another break and ordered food. They reconvened at 8:10 p.m., and Gore talked about his free-lance photography business and how he would trick females into taking photos and what he did with them. At 9:05 p.m., they took another break and at that point Detective Simmons testified he became aware that a state public defender was downstairs wanting to see Gore. Detective Simmons testified he advised Gore of the public defender's presence at 9:25 p.m., when they reconvened, and Gore said he did not care to speak with the state public defender. Gore told Detective Simmons that he had done nothing wrong and that once a judge heard this and realized that there was no The interview continued until evidence, he would be released. 10:15 p.m., and Gore was then taken to the county jail. (TR 1903-1909). Because Gore did not want to be seen on television, he was not removed from the building until after the 11:00 p.m. news. (TR 1909).

Gore took the stand at the suppression hearing and testified that throughout this entire period he continually asked for counsel after every question asked of him. (TR 1951-1952).

At trial, Detective Simmons testified that he interviewed at the Metro Dade County Jail and advised Gore of his rights. (TR 2211). Gore would not sign the rights form (TR 2214), and the officer observed Gore ask for a package of Marlboro cigarettes. (TR 2216). The statements admitted at trial were that Gore never recalled driving a 1986 black mustang nor had he met Susan Roark, (TR 2217), and that he did not know Tina Marie Corolis, nor did he go to the Cash Mart Pawn Shop and he knew nothing about Tina Corolis' red 1987 toyota. (TR 2218-2219).

Gore never exercised his right to counsel, if anything, he exercised his right to remain silent in discussing how he got to Kentucky with the federal agents. A significant break in time occurred before Gore was released to the authorities in Dade County, Florida, at which point he was immediately advised of his constitutional rights. Although he refused to initial the rights form, he told Detective Simmons, although the federal public defender had advised him not to cooperate with law enforcement, he was willing to talk with them. The standard for reviewing whether the authorities wrongfully spoke with Gore is not the principles set forth in Minnick v. Mississippi, supra, or Edwards v. Arizona, supra (since the right to counsel was not invoked), but rather the reasoning in Michigan v. Mosley, 423 U.S. 96, 96 S.Ct. 321, 46 L.Ed.2d 313 (1975), which dealt with the voluntariness of a confession that came after a defendant initially informed police of his desire to remain silent. In Mosley, the United States Supreme Court found the confession was voluntarily made and rejected the argument that Miranda creates a "per se prescription of indefinite duration upon any further questioning by any police officer on any subject, once the person in custody has indicated a desire to remain silent." Michigan v. Mosley, 423 U.S. at 102-103. The Court, in Mosley, concluded:

The admissibility of statements obtained after the person in custody has decided to remain silent depends, under *Miranda*, on whether his 'right to cut off questioning' was 'scrupulously honored.'

Michigan v. Mosley, 423 U.S. at 104. See also Henry v. State, _____ So.2d ____ (Fla. January 3, 1991), 16 F.L.W. S58 (distinguishing Long v. State, 517 So.2d 664 (Fla. 1987), from Michigan v. Mosley issue).

The evidence introduced at the suppression hearing supports a finding that Gore's rights were scrupulously honored because questioning was immediately cut off at the point when Gore said he did not want to talk about how he got to Kentucky. No further statements were taken and, when he was placed in the Metro Dade County custody on March 24, 1988, he voluntarily waived all rights after being reinstructed of his Miranda rights by Detective Simmons. Although there is a dispute by Gore that he continually asked for counsel and did not want to talk to the police, the trial court reviewed all the evidence and concluded that Gore's "exculpatory statements" were voluntarily made. See United States v. Nash, 910 F.2d 749 (11th Cir. 1990). Note: Patterson v. Illinois, 487 U.S. 285, 801 S.Ct. 2389, 101 L.Ed.2d 261 (1989).

Gore points to the fact that "although Gore did not specifically request counsel at the time, he did later, as evidenced by his consultation with the federal public defenders." (TR 30). There is nothing in the record to support this conclusion. Albeit, Gore received Sixth Amendment counsel for his federal prosecutions (and they very well may have counseled

him not to cooperate with law enforcement), Sixth Amendment counsel is not the equivalent to the invocation of a Fifth Amendment right to counsel for subsequent unrelated charges for which proper Miranda warnings are given. Arizona v. Roberson, 486 U.S. 675, 108 S.Ct. 2093, 100 L.Ed.2d 704 (1988), in not to the contrary. To suggest herein that Gore was denied access to counsel misstates the facts. Indeed, the Dade County Public Defender, Judy Alves, went to the police station because she heard about Gore on television. (TR 1790-1791, 1795). The first time Detective Simmons knew about the public defender was at the 9:05 p.m. break and immediately upon recommencement of his interview with Gore at 9:25 p.m., he told Gore that a Miami public defender was outside. Gore indicated he did not want to speak with the state public defender. Pursuant to Moran v. Burbane, even where police failed to inform a suspect of his attorney's efforts to reach him, neither Miranda nor the Fifth Amendment requires suppression of prearraignment confession where there has been a voluntary waiver. Harvey v. State, 529 So.2d 1083 (Fla. 1988). Note: Wilson v. State, So.2d (Fla. 2nd DCA 1990), 16 F.L.W. D85, D87 (distinguishes Minnick v. Mississippi, supra).

Apart from the case authorities cited, it would appear that Gore is complaining about exculpatory statements made by him to Detective Simmons. The record reflects that Gore told Detective Simmons he knew nothing about the black mustang, he had never met Susan Roark, he did not know Tina Marie Corolis and he did not drive her red 1987 toyota. While not unmindful that this Court, in Spivey v. State, 529 So.2d 1088, 1091 (Fla. 1988), held that the coercive atmosphere of a custodial interrogation prohibits the use of any statement, whether exculpatory or inculpatory, obtained in such a setting unless the procedural safeguards of Miranda are followed, the "statements" in the instant case, if wrongfully "obtained", constitute harmless error beyond a reasonable doubt.

The overwhelming evidence in this record that Gore was in the company of Susan Roark but also drove her car in Tampa and Miami long after he left Cleveland, Tennessee, is beyond question. Additionally, he was arrested in Paducah, Kentucky, in Tina Marie Corolis' 1987 red toyota. He pawned their jewelry, or had Susan Brown pawn Susan Roark's jewelry, and physical evidence placed him in the black mustang long after Susan Roark was reported missing (Florida traffic ticket). To suggest that his statements that he knew nothing about the mustang, Susan Roark or Tina Marie Corolis and her car, in any way added to the State's proof is sheer folly. Indeed, Gore has not even identified the specific statement(s) he finds repugnant. At best, his complaint must be viewed as one that police talked to him and he to them. In Arizona v. Fulminante, Case No. 89-839 (Decided March 26, 1991), the United States Supreme Court declared that even involuntary confessions are subject to a harmless error analysis. Albeit, the Court, in Fulminante, found the confession therein not admissible, the facts of the instant case certainly fall within a harmless error analysis. Should this Court ascertain that some wrongdoing occurred on the part of Detective Simmons in

- 22 -

continuing to talk with Gore following Miranda warnings on March 24, 1988, any statements that were made, and admitted at trial, were harmless error beyond a reasonable doubt.

Based on the foregoing, the State would urge this Court to affirm the trial court's denial of the motion to suppress and in the alternative, conclude that any error which may have occurred was harmless error beyond a reasonable doubt.¹

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ADMITTING EVIDENCE OF COLLATERAL CRIMES

Gore next points to the presentation by the State of collateral crimes evidence through the testimony of Lisa Ingram and the testimony of Tina Corolis. The record reflects that Lisa Ingram testified to a statement Gore made on February 19, 1988, when asked about a light-colored clutch purse in the backseat of the car "Tony" was driving. (TR 2028). Gore said it belonged to a girl he had killed last night or a few nights ago. (TR 2029). Tina Corolis testified that Gore sexually assaulted and attempted to murder her on March 14, 1988. The circumstances surrounding these events were found to be relevant by the trial court and therefore admissible. (TR 1757-1786, 1811-1862, 2018, 2049).

Gore argues that the testimony of Lisa Ingram proved nothing more than Gore's criminal propensity. The record reflects that the trial court heard this evidence and rejected same. (TR

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